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Introduction

INTRODUCTION

The story of the work of the Church in the Royal Air Force at Cranwell
cannot be told merely by stringing data together or compiling statistics. It is
more than a mere chronological process of chaplains. It is the story of the
activity of the entire Christian community for over forty years, the worship
of thousands, the immeasurable influence of the witness of the Church in
the Cranwell community, in the formation of the Royal Air Force College,
and in the lives of individual men and women who have passed this way.

It is, therefore, a story both Divine and human, Godwards and manwards.
It does not end with Cranwell, but goes out into the wider life of the
Royal Air Force, the Country and the Commonwealth. It is not a story of
obvious and easy achievements, for the difficulties and disappointments have
often been most marked; but, in spite of constant failure and apparent futility,
it is a story that deserves to be told.

Incomplete records make it impossible to write a comprehensive survey
of the work of the Church, and this booklet makes no claim to be more
than an inadequate sketch; but it is offered as an expression of gratitude for
God's blessing in His Church, an acknowledgement of the devoted work and
witness of so many who have worshipped in this place, and a testimony and
a challenge to those who are yet to come.
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1938 to 1948, and on the last occasion
presented the King’s Colour to the College, the first Royal Colour to be pre-
sented to the Royal Air Force.

The College was visited in 1951 by Her Royal Highness The Princess
Elizabeth, and in 1953 by His Royal Highness The Duke of Edinburgh. In
1960 Her Majesty Queen Elizabeth II graciously consented to _become
Commandant-in-Chief of the College, and on a magnificent day in July.
accompanied by the Duke of Edinburgh, she made a royal visit to review the
Passing-Out of No. 77 Entry of cadets, to present a new Queen's Colour, and
to open the new way called Queen’s Avenue.

Carlisle has observed that “The history of the world is the story of its
famous men.” This young College — the oldest Air Academy in the world —
has a brief story which glitters with the achievements of men who have made
aviation history in war and in peace. Its future story is in the hands of
‘the voung men who stand confidently on the threshold of the space age.
looking towards the stars.



“The Church which is His Body”

THE CHURCH AT CRANWELL

“The Church, which is His Body”

Any consideration of the work of the Church must begin with some
sort of understanding as to what it is the Church is trying to do. In its origin
the Church was called into being to fulfil the purposes of God in the world.
and to continue the work of Christ among men. It is, then, His mystical
Body, a living Organism of many members, indwelt by the Spirit of God:
but to the world it is an institution visibly organised and active.

This activity is primarily Godwards, fulfilling the duty of worship; and
then. stemming from that, manwards in its witness and service to humanity.

~ In its Godward direction its ministry cannot properly be seen and measured,
because it is projected beyond the realm of natural perception and analysis
into the spiritual realm. Like a space satellite, visible during the count-down
and as it initially begins its journey into orbit, but then known to us only
through the medium of radio communication; so too, worship, prayer and
sacrament can be ﬁerceived (but imperfectly) in their visible and material
setting, but when they ascend for ever and for ever into the Godhead they
lude the description of the writer or the measuring rod of the scientist.
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The Royal Air Force College
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by the first Colle§e Commandant, Air Commodore C. H. Longcroft. His eminent
P.M. & U.B. colleague, the Reverend A. M. McHardy, with customary gener-
osity, wrote of Padre Keymer that he was a man “so greatly beloved . . . the
ideal choice for Cranwell.” The Reverend J. T. Skinner-Law was the first
Chaplain appointed for the Boy Apprentices at the new School on east camp.

Advent Sunc}ay, 27th November, 1921, was a great day, when the hangar
Church was dedicated in the name of Saint Michael and All Angels by the
Right Reverend W. S. Swayne, the Lord Bishop of Lincoln, supported by the
Chaplain-in-Chief, the Reverend H. D. L. Viener (formerly a senior naval
chaplain), the Reverend B. W. Keymer (College chaplain) and the Reverend
J. T. Skinner-Law. The Reverend A. M. McHardy also took part in the Service,
which was conducted in the presence of the Commander-in-Chief. The Service
was immediately followed by a Confirmation Service.

Padre McHardy wrote, in a letter, of that “very ha winter’s morning’ ~ Discussion groups and debates were held on Sunday evenings after supper.
: > A i : : and there were often visiting speakers, including the Reverend “Tubby” Clayton
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part in the life of the new College, indeed of the whole new Service.” 0 :
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 The Church of St. Michael and All Angels was in fact a converted airship siding. Hfl 'ha((l;hiz ltj:remendous ﬂg'f; {or d g‘a‘t‘;‘ng oulg h tthe thosuggtsB o&dthe
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one of the outstanding feautres of Cranwell. To quote again from Padre and later by hxs.sggcesfsor, upert De La Bere, who was a tower of strength
‘McHardy, “The Church soon became the centre of Cranwell's family worship in all College activities for many years.

and inspiration, and also the focus of great friendships with Lincolnshire families
and parishes for many miles around. The Sunday services were a special event
each week for all Cranwellians and their friends. The Sunday School from the
married families was large and enthusiastic.”

It is thought to have been the Reverend B. W. Keymer who suggested
NA PETIMUS as the College motto — “We seek the higher things.”
that one day in Church Squadron Leader Portal, the Chief Flying
ed Wing Commander Rees, the Officer Commanding Flying Wing.
f the words over the altar, “Superna Petimus”, and received the
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‘the Church Parade Service, and in the April 0 1926 choral Evensong began
d was continued every Sunday evening during the summer months. Through
. years Evensong has been held in different chapels at Cranwell at
ifferent seasons; during the summer months sometimes in St. Michael’s, during
dvent and Lent in St. Christopher's Chapel and in St. George's Chapel in
East Camp, sometimes sung and sometimes said.

Two Memorial Services of special interest and marked solemnity were
held during Padre Jagoe's first tour as chaplain. Firstly, on Friday, 27th
November, 1925, when Cranwell mourned at a special Memorial Service the
passing of Queen Alexandra, and secondly on Sunday, 7th November, 1926,
when, at the great Armistice Service, the Bishop of Lincoln was the preacher
and Sir Hugh Trenchard took the salute at the march past.

The Reverend W. T. Rees succeeded the Reverend J. A. Jagoe and served
n September 1927 until December 1928, when in turn he was succeeded

everend A. H. Dolphin who served for only a few months from
1929 until August 1929.

The John Jagoe Era

1e Spring of 1928, in the United Services Chapel in Lincoln Cathedral,
al Air Force Ensign was dedicated by Dean Fry in the presence of
' Vernon Hanson (Chaplain-in-Chief), the Reverend W. T. Rees
) and the Commandant of the College, Air Vice Marshal
nsign, originally hanging in the R.AF. section of the United
was later transferred when the Royal Air Force Memorial
1ed in the Cathedral.
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The Second World War

ed distinction in the Service and in the Church. Three of them became
lains-in-Chief:— the Reverend Canon Leslie Wright, C.B.E., M.A. (Rector
‘Wimbledon), the Very Reverend Alan Giles, C.B.,, C.B.E., M.A. (Dean of
Je ﬁg&), l?r;ldA the present Chaplain-in-Chief, the Venerable F. W. Cocks, C.B.,
b, ANy . .
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years, many were the

- An outstanding event of this period, during the chaplaincy of the Rev.
G. Gates, was the visit by Her Royal Highness The Duchess of Gloucester
hursday, 6th May, 1943, when she opened the new Y.M.C.A. building on
st camp, the Chapel of which was dedicated by the Lord Bishop of Lincoln,
¢ Right Reverend Stanton Jones. Since that time the Y.M.C.A. has continued
e excellent service to the junior ranks, as did the Church Army until their
canteen was closed in 1959.
The Reverend W. E. Woosnam Jones became senior chaplain in June 1944
July 1945. He had formerly served at Cranwell as a junior chaplain in
1939. dOne entry of historical interest which he made in the Church
er reads:

“8th May, 1945.

Complete capitulation of all German Forces in Europe. Laus Deo.
‘Celebrations of Holy Communion in both Chapels — no collections taken.
Immense voluntary Service of Thanksgiving in the Station Hall at 11 a.m.
‘Chapels open all day for frequent services of intercession and thanks-
giving.”

From July 1945 until November 1946 the Reverend G. H. Church served
aplain, during a period of great re-organisation. No. 19 F.T.S. moved into
llege in July 1945 and a special Service was held to mark the occasion,
1e preacher was the Reverend Leslie Wright, Assistant Chaplain-in-Chief.
vice of Thanksgiving celebrating the final victory was held on 19th August,
- The war was over.



The Church building itself needed fairly considerable rehabilitation. During

ar it had been conscripted for other purposes and used as an Entertain-
n week-nights because it was the largest building available for the
ers stationed at Cranwell. Part of the east end, with the chancel and
was screened off, and the remainder of the building was used for
ys, Wednesdays, Thursdays and Fridays. A false roof of white
ed above. It is recalled that during the Christmas week dances

1 ) ﬁhe main road.
e following day.

il, 1948, that the
h by the Bishop

nique font has never
from which the lights
. B the

he present pipe
v in Buckingham-
arranged as a

he lectern in the
the staff sitting

Post War Reconstruction

Monday, 14th June,
ght Reverend L. N.
on, Bishop of British

anda, and the Right
et by the Com-
*.C. and conducted
day, 25th July, the
. Jagoe, Chaplain-
of the Old Cranwellian

George VI, accompanied
visited the College, and
: ere, on the parade

aplaincy occurred in
icher at the Morning
| and Right Honourable
The second was on the
op of Bermuda, the
is first Confirmation
It was most fitting
ege to which he hac



The Last 12 Years - Rev EW May

The Last Twelve Years

From 1950 to 1962 five senior chaplains have served the College, and
although much could be written about the work of the Church in this decade,
- only isolated items have been picked out for special mention, the normal
ministry and services of the Church continuing unbroken from day to day

and from year to year.

The Reverend E. W. L. May-from January 1950 until September 1951.

~ In 1950, over a week-end from 30th March to Ist April, a special course
on Christian Leadership was held for officers of Flying Training Command.
It was a powerful week-end, conducted by the Right Reverend Cuthbert

Bardsley, then Bishop of Croydon, the dynamic Bishop to the Forces.



The Last 12 Years - Rev BE Knight

d B. E. Knight—from September 1951 until February 1953.
2 the Nation was shocked by the news of the death of King
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Right Reverend Cuthbert Bardsley, the Bishop to the Forces.

16th November, 1952, a Morning Service was broadcast on

ng event in 1951 was the Dedication of St. Michael's Chapel

@ mldm§ on the 22nd June. The Dedication was preceded
. Michael's (hangar) Command Church, after which a pro-

and officers proceeded to the College Chapel. The Dedication
y the Right Reverend Maurice Harland, the Lord Bishop of
y the Chaplain-in-Chief, the Reverend Canon A. S. Giles, and
ains, the Reverend B. E. Knight, and the Reverend Morrison
dant was Air Commodore L. F. Sinclair, G.C., C.B., C.B.E,,
the war an aircraft crashed into the upper floor of the
orner of the College building, and in the subsequent restoration
hat a new Memorial Chapel could be created, enshrining the Rolls
‘ g the names of the members of the College who gave their
intry in war and in peace. Everything was contributed for
altar and surrounds, the panelling, the pews, the font, the
was a magnificent enterprise, and stands today, a worthy
d in the name of Saint Michael to the memory of the men
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The Last 12 Years - Rev LJ Ashton
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The Last 12 Years - Rev TR Quin

uin—from August 1960.

n few Eeriods during which so much activity in connec-
s took place. Pride of place must be given to the

e new St. Michael’s, which clearly had to be of a

the Church’s central place in life at Cranwell. The

e College was transferred to the new building, and this

set the standard which somehow had to be maintained.

and Embellishments Committee was formed consisting of:-
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| Sir Hugh A. Constantine, K.B.E., C.B., D.S.0. (Chairman).

H. R. Graham, C.B., CB.E., DS.O, D.F.C.
. D. McK. Nelson, C.B.

_ , Lynch-Blosse, O.B.E.

,_‘lf‘;,-; (Hon. Secretary and Treasurer).

yroved successful, and the Church is furnished with oak
- specially designed altar, fine silver, frontals, and all
' so necessary to ensure that the new St. Michael’s
nd fitting centre of worship and remembrance.
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